A 5-7-86 in the supreme court of florida

CASE NO'S. 67,373 & 67,383

CITY OF NORTH BAY VILLAGE : and OFFICER J. ORT, Petitioners-Appellants, : V. BART DAVID BRAELOW, Respondent-Appellee. :

2

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON MERITS

LEE WEISSENBORN

Law Offices of Lee Weissenborn OLDHOUSE 235 N.E. 26th Street Miami, Florida 33137 Phone: 305/573-3160



##

## INTRODUCTION

The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court.

The Record on Appeal (which was furnished by the clerk of the trial court to the district court below) will be referred to in this Brief as follows: (R-) except that the trial transcript will be referred to as (T-).

The Appendix filed with the jurisdictional brief heretofore filed in these causes is herewith adopted by reference as the Appendix to this Petitioner's Brief on Merits and reference thereto will be as follows: (A- ).

-iii-

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The complaint alleges that on November 27, 1979, Defendant J. Ort, while acting in the scope of his employment as a police officer for the Defendant City of North Bay Village committed acts of police brutality upon the plaintiff.

At the trial, no questions as to whether Defendant Ort was acting within the scope of his employment and/or whether he acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights or safety were submitted to the jury. The only liability issue submitted to the jury was as to "excessive force" (T-427). The jury returned a verdict in the amount of \$100,000 in favor of Plaintiff and against both defendants, J. Ort and North Bay Village (R-146). Thereafter the defendants filed a Motion to Conform Judgment to Requirements of Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, and a Motion for a New Trial and/or For Entry of Remittitur Damna (R-243-246).

The former motion argued that under Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, as that law was in effect on November 27, 1979, the date of the incident giving rise to the lawsuit, the amount of the judgment to be entered against Defendant North Bay Village could not exceed \$50,000, and under such statute in effect at that time a governmental employee could not be held personally liable in tort for any act on his part done in the scope of his employment for the involved governmental entity.

The trial court initially entered a final judgment in the amount of \$100,00.00 in favor of the plaintiff and against both defendants (R-310). but subsequent thereto it, in effect, amended that final judgment by entering an order "acknowledging" that under the law in effect on November 27, 1979, recovery against Defendant North Bay Village would be limited to \$50,000, with there being "no limitation" on the amount which could be recovered against Officer Ort (R-256).

-1-

The defendants then took their appeal to the district court below wherein it was contended, inter alia, that the trial court had erred in interpreting Section 768.28(9), Florida Statutes, as that subsection existed on November 27, 1979, as allowing recovery from Officer Ort of the \$50,000 of the involved judgment that was above the \$50,000 maximum amount which the plaintiff was allowed to recover against the defendant city under the then existent \$50,000 cap as prescribed by Section 768.28(5).

The district court affirmed the holding of the trial court and held that the defendant city was itself liable on the first \$50,000 of the judgment; that the defendant city indemnified Defendant Ort for the first \$50,000; and that Defendant Ort was liable for the second \$50,000 (A, 1-5).

The defendants next filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction in this Court alleging jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Constitution of the State of Florida, because of an express and direct conflict between the district court's decision in the instant cause and the holding of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, in <u>Rice v. Lee</u>, 477 So.2d 1009 (Fla. App. 1st DCA 1985) and, in addition, the defendants filed their Notice of Appeal in this Court seeking to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Constitution of the State of Florida, upon the contention that the aforedescribed decision of the district court below rendered Section 768.28(9), Florida Statutes, 1979, invalid.

This Court thereafter accepted jurisdiction in both cases, which cases are now consolidated.

This brief goes to the merits in both appellate proceedings.

-2-

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The defendants, City of North Bay Village and former Officer J. Ort, contend that the district and trial courts below erred in holding that where the plaintiff recovered a judgment against both Defendant North Bay Village and its employee, former Officer J. Ort, in the amount of \$100,000, for "excessive force" being exercised by the latter upon the plaintiff, allegedly causing personal injuries, and with no finding made by the jury or trial court that Officer Ort either acted without the scope of his employment or in bad faith, or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the amount of that judgment against Officer Ort above the then existent \$50,000 cap as the allowable recovery against the city, to-wit: an additional \$50,000, could be collected from or in behalf of Officer Ort under Section 768.28(9), Florida Statutes, as that statutory subsection existed on November 27, 1979.

-3-

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT AND THE DISTRICT COURT BELOW ERRED IN THEIR HOLDINGS THAT UNDER SECTION 768.28(9), FLORIDA STATUTES, 1979, DEFENDANT J. ORT IS LIABLE FOR THAT AMOUNT OF THE JUDGMENT ABOVE THAT AMOUNT WHICH COULD BE COLLECTED AGAINST DEFENDANT CITY OF NORTH BAY VILLAGE UNDER THE THEN EXISTENT \$50,000 CAP AS PROVIDED FOR BY SECTION 768.28(5), FLORIDA STATUTES, 1979.

Section 768.28(9), Florida Statutes, as that subsection was in effect on the date of the involved incident, to-wit: November 27, 1979, reads as follows:

> "(9) No officer, employee, or agent of the state or its subdivisions shall be held personally liable in tort for a final judgment which has been rendered against him for any injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event, or omission of action in the scope of his employment or function, unless such officer, employee, or agent acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property."

Specifically, the said subsection (9) was amended as follows by Chapter 79-139, Laws of Florida, to-wit:

"Section 9. Subsection (9) of section 768.28, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:

"768.28 Waiver of sovereign immunity in tort actions; recovery limits; limitation on attorney fees; statute of limitations; exclusions.--

"(9) No officer employee, or agent of the state or its subdivisions shall be held personally liable in tort for a final judgment which has been rendered against him for any injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event, or omission of action in the scope of his employment or function, unless such officer, employee, or agent acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. Subject to the monetary limitations-set-forth-in-subsection-(5);-the-state shall-pay-any-monetary-judgment-which-is-rendered in-a-civil-action-personally-against-an-officer; employee;-or-agent-of-the-state-which-arises-as-a result-of-any-act;-event;-or-omission-of-action within-the-scope-of-his-employment-or-function:"

Standing alone, Section 768.28(9), Florida Statutes, 1979, is clear and unambiguous on its face and it is therefore only subject to enforcement and not to interpretation and/or construction. <u>State v. Egan</u>, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) and 49 Fla.Jur.2d 147 (Statutes, Sect. 111, Ambiguity as prerequisite for construction).

However when the last changes made to Section 768.28(9) occurring before the date of the involved accident, to-wit: November 27, 1979, are studied, it is not only clear as to what Section 768.28(9) means, it is also evident that the Legislature intended that neither the "state" nor the employee thereof were to be liable for the amount of any judgment entered against the "employee" under Section 768.28(9), 1979.

The District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, in <u>Rice v.</u> <u>Lee</u>, 477 So.2d 1009 (Fla. App. 1st DCA, 1985) reached these conclusions regarding Section 768.28(9), Florida Statutes, 1979, and expressed same as follows:

> "The 1979 amendment completely deleted the conflicting second sentence relating to indemnification and additionally provided that the employee would have no liability on a judgment entered against him unless the employee acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, and property. By deleting the second sentence relating to indemnification, the legislature eliminated the inconsistency which was the basis of the rulings in Talmadge II and subsequent cases. The elimination of the inconsistent indemnification provision renders the meaning of the statute and the intention of the legislature very clear, i.e.,

> > -5-

in causes of action accruing from June 6, 1979	
to June 30, 1980, public employees have no per-	
sonal liability on judgments entered against them	
unless they acted in bad faith or with malicious	
purpose or with a willful and wanton disregard of	
human rights, safety and property. Because the	
cause of action in this appeal accrued on October :	22,
1979, the 1979 law applied" (emphasis supplied).	•

In <u>Rice</u>, a student and his parents brought a negligence action against the Santa Rosa County School Board, the superintendent of schools, another school board employee, and an insurance company (which presumably afforded the school board, etc., liability coverage) for an incident occurring on October 22, 1979.

The district court in <u>Rice</u> recites that the trial court there had denied "the School Board defendants' motion to limit judgment" as to the "board employee" and that in so ruling the trial court had erroneously relied upon the holdings in <u>Rupp v. Bryant</u>, 417 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1982); <u>State Department</u> <u>of Transportation v. Knowles</u>, 402 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1981); <u>Kirklan v. State</u> <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 424 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); and <u>Stillwell v. Thigpen</u>, 426 So.2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

This reliance by the trial court in <u>Rice</u> was specifically found to have been erroneous by the district court there because the causes of action sued upon in <u>Rupp</u> and <u>Knowles</u> accrued prior to June 6, 1979, the effective date of the 1979 amendments to Section 768.28(9), with the version of that subsection which was applicable to both of those cases reading as follows:

> "No officer, employee, or agent of the state or its subdivisions shall be held personally liable in tort for any injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event, or omission of action in the scope of his employment or function, unless such officer, employee, or agent acted in bad faith

> > -6-

or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. <u>Subject to the monetary limitations set</u> forth in subsection (5), the state shall pay any monetary judgment which is rendered in a civil action personally against an officer, employee, or agent of the state which arises as a result of any act, event, or omission of action within the scope of his employment or function. (Emphasis supplied.)"

The reference to <u>Talmadge II</u> by the court in <u>Rice</u>, supra, is to District School Board of Lake County v. Talmadge, 381 So.2d 698 (Fla. 1980) and as was pointed out in <u>Rice</u>, the holding in <u>Talmadge</u> (which was that under the 1975 version of Section 768.28(9), while the employee could not be held personally liable, the govermental entity would nevertheless be held to indemnify the employee as to the amount of any judgment entered against him) is not applicable to the instant case because of the elimination of the second paragraph of the said involved statutory subsection by the 1979 Legislature, as is indicated by the stricken language in the above-quoted Chapter 79-139 Laws of Florida. It is clear that "Talmadge II" is not applicable to the instant case and it is interesting to note that although Talmadge II was a main case relied upon by the plaintiff in his brief in the district court below, it was not even mentioned by the said district court in its decision entered in the instant cause (A, 1-5); rather, the said district court placed its main reliance in Rupp v. Bryant, 417 So.2d 658. However, the holding in Rupp is just as inapplicable to the instant cause as that in Talmadge II because Rupp, too, dealt with a version of Section 768.28 which is significantly, i.e., significant insofar as this case is concerned, different from the 1979 version of the subsection. Specifically, Rupp dealt with the 1980 version of the subsection, which was enacted into law as a part of Chapter 80-271, Laws of Florida, and which reads, in pertinent part, as follows:

-7-

"768.28 Waiver of sovereign immunity in tort actions; recovery limits; limitation on attorney fees; statute of limitations; exclusions.--

"(9) No officer, employee, or agent of the state or its subdivisions shall be held personally liable in tort or named as a party defendant in any action for-a-final-judgment which-has-been-rendered-against-him for any injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event, or omission of action in the scope of his employment or function, unless such officer, employee, or agent acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. The exclusive remedy for injury or damages suffered as a result of any act, event or omission of any officer, employee, or agent of the state, or its subdivisions or constitutional officers, shall be by action against the governmental entity, or the head of such entity in his official capacity, or constitutional officer of which the officer, employee or agent is an employee, unless such act or omission was committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. The state or its subdivisions shall not be liable in tort for the acts or omissions of an officer, employee, or agent committed while acting outside the course and scope of his employment or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property."

The school service club hazing ceremony giving rise to the cause of action sued upon in <u>Rupp</u> occurred in October, 1975, but suit was not filed thereon until February 9, 1979. The plaintiffs were the parents of a student who was injured at the above-described hazing ceremony and they brought suit against the school's principal, the faculty advisor for the school service club, and the School Board of Duval County, charging negligence and "gross and reckless negligence" for the alleged failure to monitor the service club's activities.

-8-

Initially indicating that it was concerned as to whether the 1980 version of Section 768.28(9) could be applied retroactively so as to relieve state employees, etc., from personal liability for their negligent acts, this Court in <u>Rupp</u> reviewed at length the susceptibility of public employees, agents, etc., to personal liability under the case law, beginning with the English common law rule which "traditionally held public servants accountable for their own torts (p. 662 of Rupp decision)."

This Court then concluded that there was liability on the part of the principal and the faculty advisor under the case law in effect at the time of the happening of the involved incident in October of 1975, and it determined that applying the 1980 version of Section 768.28(9) retroactively so as to bar such liability would deny the plaintiffs due process.

While conceding that "the date of the incident controls the determination of which of the several versions of 768.28(9) applies" in its decision (A-2), the district court below in the instant cause nevertheless substantially relied upon the holding in <u>Rupp</u> that the common or case law there applied to affix liability on the public employee in his own personal stead, but such reliance was clearly misplaced because in the instant case -- unlike in <u>Rupp</u> -- the version of Section 768.28(9) in effect in 1979 altered the common law and clearly and unambiguously asserted that there would be no personal liability on the part of the governmental employee for within the scope of acts of negligence not shown to be performed in bad faith, or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property.

For these reasons, the defendants, City of North Bay Village and former officer J. Ort aver that the district court in <u>Rice</u> correctly ascertained the law while the district court below in this instant cause reached an erroneous conclusion as to the law.

-9-

### CONCLUSION

Ξ

Based upon the foregoing, the defendants, City of North Bay Village and former Officer J. Ort, pray the Court to enter its Order providing that Defendant Officer Ort shall not be personally liable for the Judgment entered against him or remanding this cause back to the trial court with directions for the entry of an order so providing or for such other relief as the Court deems appropriate.