0/a 5-7-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA  
CASE NO'S. 67,373 & 67,383

CITY OF NORTH BAY VILLAGE  
and OFFICER J. ORT,

Petitioners-Appellants,

vs.

BART DAVID BRAELOW,

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) is substantially similar to §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1975). Both versions of the statute make reference to final judgments being rendered against public employees for simple acts of negligence while at the same time stating that the public employees shall not be held personally liable in tort for those judgments. This inconsistency was addressed by this Court in the Talmadge opinion, where it was held that the 1975 version of the statute partially indemnified public employees, but did not immunize them from suit for acts of ordinary negligence.

In both Rupp and Knowles, this Court has had occasion to review the legislative history of §768.28(9), and has on both occasions determined that the first grant of immunity to public employees occurred when the legislature enacted §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1980). Knowles held that the 1980 version of the statute cannot be applied retroactively to causes of action accruing prior to the statute's effective date.

Sufficient evidence was offered at trial for a jury to have concluded that Officer Ort acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights. Since defendants failed to request an interrogatory verdict form requiring the jury to specifically address that issue, there is no way to know on appeal whether or not the jury determined that issue in favor of plaintiff. Under the two-issue rule, it is presumed that the jury did determine that issue in favor of plaintiff, in which case, even under the construction of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) urged by Officer Ort, the judgment rendered against Officer Ort is valid.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT BELOW WAS CORRECT IN DENYING  
DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO CONFORM JUDGMENT.

- A. §768.28(9), Fla.Stat.(1980) cannot be applied retroactively so as to deprive plaintiff of his right to obtain a judgment against Officer Ort individually.

A meaningful analysis of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) cannot be made without first examining the statute's legislative history from 1975 until 1980. The predecessor to the 1979 version of the statute was Fla.Stat. §768.28(9) (1975). That version provides:

"No officer, employee, or agent of the state or its subdivisions shall be held personally liable in tort for any injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event, or omission of action in the scope of his employment or function, unless such officer, employee, or agent acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property.

"Subject to the monetary limitations set forth in subsection (5), the state shall pay any monetary judgment which is rendered in a civil action personally against an officer, employee, or agent of the state which arises as a result of any act, event, or omission of action within the scope of his employment or function."

This Court construed this sub-section in District School Board of Lake County v. Talmadge, 381 So.2d 698 (Fla. 1980), and held that public employees were partially indemnified, but not immunized from suit for injuries they inflicted in the course of their employment under this provision. This Court noted that while part of §768.28(9) stated that "no...employee shall be held personally liable in tort...", there was other language in the statute discussing the state's obligation to pay "any mone-

tary judgment which is rendered in a civil action personally against an...employee...." Since it would be impossible for judgments to be rendered personally against public employees if §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1975) immunized those employees from suit, the statute would make no sense if interpreted to so immunize those employees. The Talmadge court therefore concluded that §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1975) merely addressed the extent to which the state would be liable for the torts of public employees. Noting that the legislative intent behind §768.28 (1975) was to waive sovereign immunity on a broad basis in order to provide more adequate compensation for victims of governmental torts, the Talmadge decision was intended to enhance that legislative objective. This Court also noted in Talmadge that its interpretation harmonized §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1975) with other related statutes providing for the defense of certain lawsuits against public employees, noting that those statutes would also be rendered meaningless if §768.28(9) were interpreted so as to immunize public employees from suit in most instances.

In response to the Talmadge decision, the legislature promptly enacted Chapter 80-271, Laws of Florida, and provided public employees with immunity from suit for their tortious acts under most circumstances. As amended, §768.28(9) provided:

"(9) No...employee...of the state...shall be held personally liable in tort or named as a party defendant in any action...unless such...employee...acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. The exclusive remedy for injury or damages suffered as a result of any act...of any...employee...of the state... shall be by action against the governmental entity...unless such act or omission was committed in bad faith or with

malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property...."

While the legislature endeavored to give its amendment retroactive effect, this Court ruled, in State Department of Transportation v. Knowles, 402 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1981), that the statute could not constitutionally be applied retroactively and that, therefore, the law in effect upon the accrual of a cause of action against a public employee must govern.

In the trial court, defendants argued that Fla.Stat. §768.28 (1980) applied so as to entitle defendants to have the judgment conformed in accordance with their motion (R 300-301). Since Fla.Stat. §768.28, as amended by Chapter 80-271, Laws of Florida, was the first statutory grant of immunity to Florida public employees, and was not in effect on November 27, 1979, when plaintiff's cause of action against Officer Ort accrued, §768.28 Fla.Stat. (1980) cannot be applied to deprive plaintiff of his right to obtain a judgment against Officer Ort.

B. §768.28(9), Fla.Stat.(1979) contains no restriction upon plaintiff's right to obtain a judgment against Officer Ort individually.

§768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) is no more a grant of immunity to public employees than was the version of the statute construed by this Court in Talmadge. The 1979 version provides:

"(9) No...employee...of the state...shall be held personally liable in tort for a final judgment which has been rendered against him...unless such...employee...acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property."

Like its predecessor, Chapter 79-139 contemplated final judgments

being rendered against public employees. As in the 1975 version of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat., the 1979 version would make no sense if interpreted so as to immunize public employees from suit since its express language limits such employee's liability once a final judgment has been rendered against him. Clearly no final judgment could be rendered against a public employee under §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) if that statute were to immunize said employee from suit. The statute does not prohibit public employees being named as defendants in simple negligence actions, even where no bad faith or malicious purpose appears, nor does the statute prohibit final judgments being entered against public employees under those circumstances. Its language merely limits the liability of public employees for final judgments rendered against them, and it is therefore apparent that the statute contemplates that public employees will be named in lawsuits where no allegations of bad faith or malicious purpose have been made.

In Rupp v. Bryant, 417 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1982), this Court was required to determine what legal rights were in existence for persons harmed by governmental employees prior to the 1980 amendments to §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. Rupp, at 661. This Court determined the status of those rights as follows:

"...(w)ith this decision, it should be clear that, for actions commenced between January 1, 1975, the effective date of the original section of 768.28, Chapter 73-313, Laws of Florida, and June 30, 1980, the effective date of the amendment of §768.28(9), Chapter 80-271, Laws of Florida, suit may be maintained against both the state and the employee or official for the ordinary negligence of the employee or official in carrying out ministerial, though not discretionary, duties in the course of employment for the government, provided there is a special duty to the complainant as reflected in First National Bank v.

Filer, 107 Fla. 526, 145 So. 204 (1933), and in Modlin v. City of Miami Beach, 201 So.2d 70 (Fla. 1967)."

In the decision below, the District Court utilized the criteria set forth in Rupp v. Bryant, supra., to determine that plaintiff had a special and direct interest in Officer Ort's performance of his duties as a police officer, and that the serious personal injuries sustained by Braelow constituted special damages. The District Court further noted that at the time of the incident, Officer Ort was engaged in ministerial duties: he had already made the decision to arrest and was engaged in activities incident to carrying out that decision. The court below concluded that the jury had found that Officer Ort had breached the duty owed to Braelow and, pursuant to Rupp, supra., §768.28(9) (1979) did not prohibit the entry of a judgment against Officer Ort pursuant to the jury's finding (R 492-496).

It is significant to note that this Court made no mention of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) in the Rupp opinion. This Court also failed to mention that version of the statute in State Department of Transportation v. Knowles, 402 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1981). It is submitted that the lack of discussion of the 1979 version of the statute in Rupp or Knowles was due to the fact that the 1979 amendment did not materially change the statute and certainly did not affect the question of immunity of public employees as decided in Talmadge. As noted by this Court in Talmadge, the grant of immunity to public employees would need to be clearly expressed by the legislature, since such an immunity would be in derogation of common law. This was not done until the enactment of Chapter 80-271.

In fact, the legislature enacted Chapter 80-271, Laws of Florida, in response to this Court's decision in Talmadge. It was not until 1980,

when the Talmadge decision was rendered, that the legislature was put on notice that if it wanted to immunize public employees from suit, it would have to enact legislation clearly expressing that goal. Obviously, without the benefit of the Talmadge decision, the legislature in 1979 had no reason to pass curative legislation. It was not until the enactment of Chapter 80-271 that the Florida legislature amended §768.28(9) by substituting the phrase "or named as a party defendant in any action" for the phrase "for a final judgment which has been rendered against him." The statute for the first time specified that a public employee could not be named as a party defendant in any action unless there were allegations of bad faith or malicious purpose. For the first time, the statute no longer contemplated final judgments being rendered against public employees for ministerial negligence.

The analysis of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) by the First District Court of Appeal in Rice v. Lee, 477 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) is flawed. The 1979 amendments to the statute do not clearly appear to be a reaction to the District Court ruling in Talmadge v. District School Board of Lake County, 355 So.2d 502 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978). The 1979 amendments did not remove the reference to final judgments which have been rendered against public employees. Therefore, the same inconsistency dealt with by the Talmadge court appears in the 1979 version of the statute in the sense that, on the one hand, the statute contemplates final judgments being rendered against employees for ministerial negligence, while on the other hand, the statute purports to limit those public employees' personal liability for those final judgments. While the Rice court attached a great deal of importance to the fact that the 1979 amendment deleted the provision relating to

indemnification of public employees by the state for judgments rendered against them, the deletion does not, in fact, eliminate the inconsistency common to the 1975 and 1979 versions of the statute as discussed above. This Court's ruling in Talmadge, supra, with regard to the 1975 statute, should apply to the 1979 statute. The Rice court ignored this Court's analysis of the legislative history of the statute, and further ignored the policy bases discussed by this Court in Talmadge that bolstered this Court's holding that all versions of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat., prior to the 1980 amendments failed to render public employees immune from judgments for ministerial negligence. This Court should disapprove the decision in Rice, supra.

It is significant to note that §286.28, Fla.Stat. (1979) provides for the purchase of insurance for public employees covering liability for damages on account of operations within the state. This statute clearly contemplates judgments being entered against public employees acting within the scope of their employment, and is in harmony with §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) in that it fulfills the remedial purpose of providing compensation for victims of governmental torts. The construction of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) urged by defendants would render §286.28, Fla.Stat. (1979) to be meaningless to the extent that it would be authorizing liability insurance for employees covering acts already immunized from suit.

Additionally, the Police Professional Liability Policy purchased by the City of North Bay Village which was in effect commencing November 1, 1979, would be a peculiar investment in light of the City's argument that the employees for which it had purchased insurance were immune from suits of the nature for which the policy expressly provided coverage (R 266).

C. Under the two-issue rule, Officer Ort has waived his right to object to the verdict and judgment rendered against him since there was evidence to support a finding by the jury that he acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights.

Ample evidence was introduced at trial to show that Officer Ort acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights and safety. The evidence demonstrated that, without provocation, Officer Ort had repeatedly struck the plaintiff about the face while Mr. Braelow was handcuffed, knocking him down to the ground a number of times. The severity of the beating sustained by Mr. Braelow was such that three of his teeth were broken, five fillings were fractured, he sustained a black eye, lacerations, a concussion, and a fracture to his knee. (T 361-374; 167-178; 202-210; 244-253; 272-272). The trial court granted plaintiff's motion to amend his pleadings to conform to the evidence introduced at trial. The jury could easily have found, based upon the evidence, that Officer Ort did act in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights and safety. Defendants did not request an interrogatory verdict form so as to require the jury to specify whether or not it had made such a finding. The jury returned a simple verdict form showing only that it had found both defendants to be liable to the plaintiff, and that Braelow had sustained \$100,000.00 in damages.

The two-issue rule is a rule of policy designed to simplify the work of trial courts and to limit the scope of proceedings on review. The

rule applies in situations where a general verdict has been returned, making it impossible to ascertain the issues upon which the verdict was founded. Where the trier of fact could properly have found for a party as to one issue, the presumption on appeal is that all issues were decided in favor of the prevailing party and the judgment will be affirmed. Colonial Stores, Inc. v. Scarborough, 355 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1977).

Under the two issue rule, the jury could have found that Officer Ort acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting willful and wanton disregard of human rights and safety. By failing to offer a special interrogatory verdict form, Officer Ort is unable to establish that he has been prejudiced by the trial court's ruling concerning his motion to conform the judgment. Even under the construction of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) urged by Officer Ort, the jury properly could have found him personally liable by virtue of his bad faith, malice, or wanton and willful disregard of the plaintiff's safety. Officer Ort's complaint as to the application of §768.28(9), Fla.Stat. (1979) to the judgment rendered against him should be foreclosed for this reason.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the aforementioned arguments and authorities, it is respectfully submitted that the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.